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Pre-Trial Restraining Order / Warantless 
Seizures of Bank Accounts 
 
The Government may rely on the indictment 
alone to establish probable cause for a pre-trial 
restraining order only if the grand jury actually 
considered the evidence in support of the 
forfeiture and voted on it. 
 
The Government may rely on the exigent 
circumstances exception to the warrant 
requirement to seize a bank account, but it 
cannot retain possession of the property 
indefinitely without obtaining a post-seizure 
determination of probable cause by a judicial 
officer. 

 
United States v. Cosme, ___ F.3d ___, 2015 WL 
4716437 (2nd Cir. Aug. 10, 2015). 
 
Second Circuit * Defendant was arrested and 
charged with various offenses in connection with 
a multi-million dollar fraud scheme.  At the time 
of his arrest, the Government sent letters to 
Defendant’s banks, asking them to freeze his 
accounts, and advising them that it had probable 
cause to believe that the accounts were subject 
to seizure and forfeiture.  Based on the letters, 
the banks froze Defendant’s accounts, but 
although the Government told the banks that it 
was in the process of obtaining seizure warrants, 
it never did so.  Instead, it listed the bank 
accounts and other seized property in 
Defendant’s indictment, and then asked the court 
to issue a pre-trial restraining order.     
 
 Defendant opposed the restraining order, 
arguing inter alia that there was no probable 
cause for the restraint, but the court held that 
because the property was listed in the indictment, 
it could issue the restraining order based on the 

grand jury’s finding of probable cause.  The 
court also rejected Defendant’s request for the 
release of the money in the bank accounts on the 
ground that it was seized without a warrant.  
United States v. Cosme, 2014 WL 1584026 
(S.D.N.Y. Apr. 21, 2014) (June 2014 Maryland 
Forfeiture Digest).  Defendant appealed. 
 
 On appeal, the panel acknowledged that 
a court may rely on the grand jury’s finding of 
probable cause to issue an order restraining 
property that is subject to forfeiture.  But that 
only applies if the grand jury actually considered 
the factual basis for the forfeiture when it voted 
on the indictment. 
 
 In its brief, the Government conceded that 
the forfeiture provision was included in the 
indictment only as a “notice provision” and that 
the grand jury had not voted on it.  That being 
so, the panel concluded that the district court 
erred in relying on the indictment in finding 
probable cause for the issuance of the restraining 
order.  Rather, the court should have made its 
own independent probable cause determination, 
and because it did not do so, the restraining 
order was invalid.  
 
 Given the invalidity of the restraining 
order, the Government needed to suggest a 
different basis for the legality of its freezing 
Defendant’s bank accounts.  It argued that 
under the Second Circuit’s decision in United 
States v. Daccarett, 6 F.3d 37, 49 (2d Cir. 1993), 
the inherent mobility of electronic funds triggers 
the “exigent circumstances” exception to the 
warrant requirement, and that it is therefore 
proper for the Government to seize such funds 
without a warrant if there is probable cause to 
believe the money is subject to forfeiture. 
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 The panel agreed with the Government 
that it the initial warrantless seizure was proper, 
but it held that the Government’s continued 
restraint of the money for two years, without any 
judicial determination of probable cause, violated 
Defendant’s Fourth Amendment rights.  In a 
situation like this one, the panel said, the 
Government should have followed through on its 
assertion that it was in the process of obtaining a 
post-seizure warrant. 
 
 That the Government’s failure to obtain a 
post-seizure warrant was improper, however, did 
not mean that the Government was unable to 
pursue the forfeiture of the money or that it was 
required to release it to Defendant.  “Even when 
the initial seizure is found to be illegal,” the court 
said, “the seized property can still be forfeited.” 
 
 But the court did hold that to retain the 
property pending trial, the Government must 
obtain a judicial determination of probable cause, 
and it remanded the case to the district court for 
that purpose.  In making that determination, the 
panel added, the judge may consider any 
evidence now in the Government’s possession, 
and is not limited to what the Government knew 
at the time of the initial restraint.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Martin Bell (S.D.N.Y.) 
 
Comment: There are two important holdings in 
this case: the district court cannot rely solely on 
the indictment to establish probable cause for a 
pre-trial restraining order unless the grand jury 
considered the evidence in support of the 
forfeiture allegation and voted on it when 
returning the indictment; and the Government will 
only be allowed to retain property that is seized 
without a warrant based on the exigent 
circumstances exception if it obtains a post-
seizure probable cause determination from a 
judicial officer.  Both holdings may have far-
reaching consequences. 
 

It is well-established that the grand jury’s finding 
of probable cause to believe that the property 
listed in the indictment is subject to forfeiture is 
sufficient to support the issuance of a pre-trial 
restraining order.  See Kaley v. United States, 
___ U.S. ___, 134 S. Ct. 1090 (2014) (just as it is 
sufficient to support the issuance of a warrant for 
the defendant’s arrest, the grand jury’s finding of 
probable cause is sufficient to support the 
restraint of his property); United States v. 
Jamieson, 427 F.3d 394, 405 (6th Cir. 2005) 
(initial issuance of restraining order may be 
based on grand jury’s finding of probable cause; 
probable cause may be challenged in post-
restraint hearing if defendant satisfies Jones 
requirements); United States v. Bollin, 264 F.3d 
391, 421 (4th Cir. 2001) (the grand jury’s finding 
of probable cause is sufficient to satisfy the 
Government’s burden); In re Billman, 915 F.2d 
916, 919 (4th Cir. 1990) (same). 

But for this rule to apply, the grand jury must 
actually consider the evidence supporting the 
forfeiture and determine that there is probable 
cause.  Simply listing the property in the 
indictment is not enough.  In this case, the 
Government conceded that the grand jury did not 
vote on the forfeiture; apparently, the criminal 
AUSA presenting the indictment considered the 
forfeiture allegation to be only a notice provision 
and did not instruct the grand jury to consider it 
as part of its probable cause determination. 

As we have often said at our training 
conferences, a criminal AUSA who does that 
takes a great risk in relying on the indictment 
alone to obtain a pre-trial restraining order.  We 
have avoided the issue until now largely because 
there is rarely a way for the defendant to know 
what happened in the grand jury.  Here, 
however, defense counsel was a former forfeiture 
AUSA who may have had reason to believe that 
if it was challenged to do so, the Government 
would not be able to show that the grand jury 
actually voted on the forfeiture. 
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The result, unfortunately, is that we can now 
expect many defendants to question the validity 
of pre-trial restraining orders not only on the 
familiar Sixth Amendment ground that the 
restrained property is needed to retain counsel, 
but also on the Fourth Amendment ground that 
the restraining order was issued without a proper 
finding of probable cause in the first instance.  I 
would not be surprised, for example, to see a 
flurry of requests for the grand jury minutes to 
see if the grand jury actually considered the 
forfeiture.  Whether the courts will consider such 
requests to be proper remains to be seen. 

To protect the validity of restraining orders from 
such attacks, the Government can do at least 
three things: 1) have the preface to the forfeiture 
notice in the indictment expressly state, “the 
Grand Jury further finds probable cause to 
believe that . . .” so that the probable cause 
finding is evident on the face of the indictment; 2) 
instead of relying solely on the indictment to 
establish probable cause, include a summary of 
the evidence that was submitted to the grand jury 
regarding the forfeiture in the application for the 
restraining order; and 3) most important, train 
criminal AUSAs to present evidence to the grand 
jury in support of the forfeiture of any property 
listed in the indictment and instruct them to have 
the jurors vote on it.  

The other issue in this case could turn out to be 
even more important.  In essence, the court 
holds that warrantless seizures based on exigent 
circumstances must be ratified by a post-seizure 
judicial finding of probable cause if the 
Government intends to maintain possession of 
the property for a significant period of time.  
There are, of course, thousands of cases in 
which property is seized for forfeiture without a 
warrant based solely on probable cause.  Such 
seizures are entirely proper if an exception to the 
warrant requirement applies.  See Section 18 
U.S.C. § 981(b) (expressly authorizing that 
procedure in civil forfeiture cases).   

Under current law, the Government has not been 
required to seek a post-seizure judicial finding of 
probable cause – even if the property was seized 
without a warrant -- unless the defendant or 
claimant satisfies the requirements for a post-
seizure probable cause hearing under the Jones-
Farmer rule.  As discussed in last month’s 
Maryland Forfeiture Digest, however, the 
constitutionality of that rule has been questioned, 
most notably in the Alvarez case that went to the 
Supreme Court.  The panel in this case does not 
hold that that defendants and claimants are 
always entitled to an adversarial hearing to 
challenge the probable cause for a warrantless 
seizure, but it does nevertheless hold that there 
must be a post-seizure judicial determination of 
some kind, even if it is ex parte.  Exactly what 
that procedure will be and when it will be required 
remain to be determined.  SDC 

 

Structuring / Unit of Prosecution / Excessive 
Fines 

Defendant who conducts a series of sub-$10,000 
cash transactions with the intent to evade the 
currency reporting requirement is guilty of “serial 
structuring” even if he never has more than 
$10,000 in his possession at one time. 

The unit of prosecution for a serial structuring 
offense is a single count; defendant who did not 
object to being charged with multiple counts 
before trial waived his right to do so on 
multiplicity grounds. 

A serial structuring offense can involve a 
combination of deposits and withdrawals; there is 
no reason to separate the deposits and 
withdrawals into separate counts. 

Forfeiture of $870,238 based on a single count of 
structuring that amount did not violate the 
Excessive Fines Clause. 
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United States v. Sperrazza, ___ F.3d ___, 2015 
WL 4880966 (11th Cir. Aug. 17, 2015). 

Eleventh Circuit * Defendant, an 
anesthesiologist, had an odd way of processing 
the payments he received from his patients.  
Rather than depositing patients’ checks directly 
into his bank account, he would take a quantity of 
checks totaling between $9,000 and $10,000 to 
his bank and cash them.  Then, some days later, 
he would deposit the cash into his bank account, 
again in amounts between $9,000 and $10,000.  
He did this numerous times over two years, 
cashing checks and making deposits totaling 
$870,238. 

 A grand jury determined that this was part 
of a tax evasion scheme and charged Defendant 
with tax evasion and two counts of structuring, 
with one count for each calendar year in which 
the structured deposits occurred.  Defendant 
was convicted and the court ordered him to forfeit 
$870,238 as the property involved in the 
structuring offenses.  United States v. 
Sperrazza, 2014 WL 5310545 (M.D. Ga. Oct. 16, 
2014).  Defendant appealed both the conviction 
and the forfeiture order. 

 First, Defendant argued that the 
indictment failed to charge him with a structuring 
offense under 31 U.S.C. § 5324(a)(3) because it 
did not allege that he had a “cash hoard” in 
excess of $10,000 at the time the structured 
transactions occurred.  The Government 
responded that breaking a “cash hoard” into sub-
$10,000 amounts is not the only way in which a 
person can commit structuring; rather, under 31 
C.F.R. § 1010.100(xx), it is also an offense to 
conduct a series of transactions at or below 
$10,000 with the intent the evade the reporting 
requirement, even if the defendant never has 
more than $10,000 in his possession at one time.  
This is called “serial structuring.” 

 The panel, dividing 2-1, agreed with the 
Government.  “Consider the defendant who has 

checks totaling $9,000,” the court said, “and 
knows he will receive another bundle of checks 
totaling more than $1,000 tomorrow; in order to 
avoid the reporting requirement, he decides to 
cash the checks totaling $9,000 today.  We think 
the Government may charge the defendant . . . 
with one count of structuring even though he did 
not have more than $10,000 in hand at any one 
time.” 

 The dissenting judge argued that under 
that rule, the Government could convict a person 
of structuring simply because he had a steady 
stream of cash income and he chose to go to the 
bank each time his cash-on-hand totaled $9,000.  
But the court held that the mens rea element 
provides the necessary safeguard against such a 
prosecution: it would only be a violation of the 
structuring statute if the Government could prove 
beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant 
acted with the intent to evade the reporting 
requirement. 

 In this case, Defendant’s tax evasion 
motive, and his admission to a testifying 
colleague that he never cashed checks totaling 
more than $10,000 “to avoid any reports” or 
anything that would involve the IRS, established 
the mens rea element. 

 Defendant also argued that the indictment 
was multiplicitous because it broke the serial 
structuring pattern into two separate counts, with 
one count for each calendar year in which the 
offense occurred.  The Government confessed 
error on this point and admitted that the serial 
structuring should have been charged as a single 
count.  But the court held that Defendant had 
forfeited this argument by not raising it prior to 
trial. 

 Next, Defendant objected that the 
indictment incorrectly characterized each of his 
financial transactions as the cashing of a check, 
when in fact some of the transactions were cash 
deposits into his bank account.  Again, the 
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Government conceded its error in the drafting of 
the indictment, but the court held that the error 
was harmless. 

 Both types of transactions – cashing 
checks and making cash deposits – are subject 
to the Currency Transaction Reporting 
requirements, and a pattern comprising both 
types of transactions may constitute a single 
serial structuring offense.  Thus, there was no 
reason the Government needed to separate the 
check cashing and cash depositing events into 
two separate counts, and accordingly, there was 
no harm caused by the erroneous mis-
characterization of some of the transactions. 

 Turning to the forfeiture order, Defendant 
argued that the forfeiture of the entire $870,238 
violated the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth 
Amendment.  Applying the Eleventh Circuit’s 
version of the “gross disproportionality test,” the 
panel disagreed and affirmed the forfeiture. 

 Law enforcement officials use CTRs “to 
track down criminal activity,” the panel noted, and 
the evidence showed that Defendant structured 
his transactions to disguise his tax evasion.  
Thus, Defendant was “dead center” in the class 
of persons at whom the structuring statute was 
directed.  Moreover, for Eighth Amendment 
purposes, it was relevant that Defendant did this 
not once but repeatedly for over two years. 

 In addition, the forfeiture of $870,238 
compared favorably with the maximum statutory 
fine for structuring, which is $500,000.  A 
forfeiture that is less than double the statutory 
maximum, the court said, is not -- for that reason 
alone -- unconstitutionally excessive.  (Ed. Note: 
The statutory maximum fine for structuring over 
$100,000 in a 12-month period is actually 
$1,000,000 under Section 5324(d), but the court 
did not mention this fact.) 

 Third, the court rejected Defendant’s 
claim that his structuring offense caused little 

harm.  “Structuring might cause less harm when 
it does not disguise another crime,” the court 
said, but the structuring in this case was part of a 
tax evasion scheme.  Moreover, structuring itself 
causes harm by decreasing the likelihood that 
the Government will detect criminal activity, and 
by increasing the costs of investigating that 
activity when it is detected. 

 Finally, Defendant objected that the 
forfeiture order impermissibly “double-counted” 
the structured funds in that the cash Defendant 
obtained from cashing his patients’ checks was 
the same cash that was later deposited into his 
bank account.  The court gave short shrift to this 
argument, holding that Defendant failed to 
preserve it as an objection to the calculation of 
the amount of the money judgment, but raised it 
only in the context of his Eighth Amendment 
argument, to which, in the court’s view, it was 
irrelevant.  

 So the structuring conviction and 
forfeiture order were affirmed in all respects.  
SDC 

Contact: AUSAs Dan Bennett, Michelle Schieber 
and James Crane (M.D. Ga.) 

Comment: This is not the first appellate case to 
recognize “serial structuring” as a separate 
offense under Section 5324(a)(3), nor the first to 
hold that it is not necessary for the Government 
to prove that the defendant had more than 
$10,000 in his possession when the relevant 
financial transactions occurred.  See United 
States v. Van Allen, 524 F.3d 814, 820-21 (7th 
Cir. 2008) (breaking a “cash hoard” of more than 
$10,000 into smaller amounts is not the only way 
to commit a structuring offense; under former 
section 103.11(gg), writing and cashing a series 
of sub-$10,000 checks is also structuring); United 
States v. Peterson, 607 F.3d 975, 978-81 (4th 
Cir. 2010) (explaining that structuring may 
consist of breaking up a lump sum and making 
multiple deposits into the same bank on the 
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same day (“imperfect structuring”) or into 
different banks or the same bank on different 
days (“perfect structuring”), or a series of 
transactions over many days (“serial 
structuring”)).  But it does the best job of 
explaining serial structuring and what the 
Government must prove to obtain a conviction. 

Serial structuring is the vehicle for prosecuting 
any offense that involves a defendant who has a 
steady stream of cash income – e.g., a nightclub 
owner, liquor retailer, or other person with a cash 
business – and who routinely deposits the cash 
just before it totals more than $10,000, even 
though he knows that he will receive more cash 
in short order.  As the court in this case 
acknowledges, it would be a defense for such a 
person to offer a benign explanation for such a 
pattern of transactions, such the fear of keeping 
too much cash on hand.  But if the Government 
can prove that at least part of his motivation was 
to avoid the CTR requirement, it can obtain a 
conviction.  Here, the mens rea was supplied 
both by the defendant’s evident intent to commit 
tax evasion and by his ill-advised statement to a 
colleague that he was doing what he did to avoid 
“reports” and queries by the IRS. 

Prosecutors should take note, however, that the 
unit of prosecution is a single, overarching count 
that encompasses the entire course of conduct.  
Whether the Government might have added 
additional counts of “lump sum” structuring if any 
such events had occurred in the course of the 
serial structuring activity is an issue the court in 
this case did not address.  (I filed several such 
combined structuring indictments as an AUSA; 
they should still be posted on Stef’s Corner in 
USANet.)  

For the case law holding that the forfeiture of the 
entire amount involved in a structuring offense 
does not violate the Excessive Fines Clause of 
the Eighth Amendment, see Section V.B of my 
Eighth Amendment Case Outline.  SDC 

RICO Forfeiture / Proceeds – Gross v. Net / 
Joint and Several Liability 

Ninth Circuit reaffirms that there is no right to 
have a jury determine the amount of a forfeiture 
money judgment, and that the standard of proof 
for criminal forfeiture is preponderance of the 
evidence. 

If the applicable forfeiture statute contains no 
definition of “proceeds,” the defendant must 
forfeit the gross proceeds of his offense, not net 
profits. 

For the doctrine of joint and several liability to 
apply to a forfeiture order, it is not the amount of 
the proceeds that must be foreseeable to the co-
defendant, but only the scope of the criminal 
activity. 

United States v. Christensen, ___ F.3d ___, 2015 
WL 5010591 (9th Cir. Aug. 25, 2015). 

Ninth Circuit * Defendant ran a private 
investigating agency that acquired information for 
its clients by bribing police officers, wiretapping 
telephone conversations, and other illegal 
means.  He and several co-defendants, 
including a corrupt police officer and a corrupt 
telephone company employee, were convicted of 
RICO and other offenses, and held jointly and 
severally liable to forfeit the gross proceeds of 
the RICO offense. 

 On appeal, Defendant and co-defendants 
challenged the forfeiture order on several 
grounds.  First, they argued that they had a right 
to have a jury determine the amount of the 
forfeiture judgment, and that the standard of 
proof should have been “beyond a reasonable 
doubt.”  But the panel reaffirmed prior Ninth 
Circuit decisions on both points.  There is 
neither a constitutional nor statutory right to have 
a jury determine the amount of a money 
judgment, the court said, and because “forfeiture 
is an aspect of the sentence, not an element of 
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the underlying crime,” the amount of the forfeiture 
judgment need only be determined by a 
preponderance of the evidence.  

 Next, the defendants argued that they 
should be liable only for the net profits of the 
RICO offense, not its gross proceeds, and that 
the district court therefore erred in using the 
gross payments Defendant received from his 
clients as the measure of the amount of the 
forfeiture judgment.  But the panel disagreed. 

 The majority rule among the circuits that 
have addressed this issue, the court said, is that 
“proceeds” means “gross receipts” and not “net 
profits.”  Only the Seventh Circuit takes the 
contrary view.  For a variety of reasons, 
including the legislative history of the RICO 
statute, the court held that the majority had the 
better view.  “Reading the word ‘proceeds’ 
broadly,” the court said, “has the benefit of 
punishing . . . all convicted criminals who receive 
income from illegal activity, and not merely those 
whose criminal activity turns a profit.” 

 In so holding, the panel rejected 
Defendant’s reliance on the Supreme Court’s 
decision in Santos on the ground that Santos 
dealt with a narrow issue under the money 
laundering statute that does not apply to criminal 
forfeitures. 

 Finally, the two co-defendants argued that 
they should not be held jointly and severally 
liable for the full amount of the forfeiture ($2.0 
million) because that amount was not 
foreseeable to them.  But the court held that the 
co-defendants misunderstood the basis for their 
liability. 

 For the doctrine of joint and several 
liability to apply to a forfeiture order, the court 
said, it is not the amount of the proceeds that 
must be foreseeable to the co-defendant, but the 
scope of the criminal activity.  Stated differently, 
if a defendant is aware of the scope of the 

criminal activity, the proceeds of that activity are 
“necessarily foreseeable to him.” 

 Accordingly, because the co-defendants 
were aware of the scope of Defendant’s criminal 
activity, they were jointly and severally liable for 
the gross proceeds of his offense, even if the 
specific amount of those proceeds was not 
foreseeable. 

 So the forfeiture orders were affirmed in 
all respects.  SDC 

Contact: AUSAs Kevin Lally and Joshua Klein 
(C.D. Cal.) 

Comment: The first two points break no new 
ground: the Ninth Circuit has previously held that 
there is no right to have the jury determine the 
amount of a money judgment either under the 
Sixth Amendment or Rule 32.2(b)(5); and it has 
also held that the burden of proof in a criminal 
forfeiture case is preponderance of the evidence.  
The only significance to the latter holding is that 
the court applied the preponderance standard in 
a RICO case, which not all courts have done.  
See United States v. Pelullo, 14 F.3d 881, 901-
06 (3d Cir. 1994) (reasonable doubt standard 
applies to forfeitures in RICO cases); United 
States v. Saccoccia, 165 F. Supp. 2d 103, 110 
(D.R.I. 2001) (noting split in the circuits on 
burden of proof in RICO cases). 

The court’s analysis of the gross v. net issue is 
also unsurprising.  It follows the majority rule, 
isolates the Seventh Circuit’s rule as an outlier, 
and agrees with all other courts that Santos does 
not apply to criminal forfeiture.  It should be 
understood, however, that the this case and the 
cases on which the panel relied all deal with 
instances in which there was no definition of 
“proceeds” in the applicable forfeiture statute.  
The case therefore has little bearing on the more 
controversial gross v. net issue that arises when 
a forfeiture is based on a statute such as 18 
U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) to which the convoluted 
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definition of “proceeds” in Section 981(a)(2) 
applies. 

Finally, and particularly in light of the holding of 
the D.C. Circuit in United States v. Cano-Flores, 
infra, the most important part of the court’s 
opinion is its discussion of joint and several 
liability.  Not only does the court reaffirm that 
under the Pinkerton doctrine, all co-defendants 
are jointly and severally liable for the 
consequences of their wrongdoing, including the 
forfeiture of the proceeds of that criminal activity, 
but it also explains the foreseeability 
requirement: it’s not the amount the proceeds 
that has to be foreseeable; it’s only the scope of 
the criminal activity that yields those proceeds 
that has to be foreseeable. 

For the D.C. Circuit’s contrary take on joint and 
several liability, see the next case summary.  
SDC 

 

Joint and Several Liability 

The doctrine of joint and several liability in 
criminal forfeiture cases does not apply in the 
District of Columbia. 

United States v. Cano-Flores, ___ F.3d ___, 
2015 WL 4666891 (D.C. Cir. Aug. 7, 2015). 
 
D.C. Cir. * Defendant, a former Mexican police 
officer, was responsible for guarding shipments 
of marijuana and cocaine for one of Mexico’s 
most infamous drug cartels.  He was convicted 
of a conspiracy to import controlled substances in 
violation of 21 U.S.C. § 959, and was sentenced 
to 35 years in prison.  He was also found jointly 
and severally liable with all other co-conspirators 
for the forfeiture of the proceeds of the 
conspiracy, and was ordered to forfeit $15 billion 
pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 853(a).  Defendant 
appealed, arguing that the forfeiture order 

violated the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth 
Amendment. 
 
 Attempting to avoid the constitutional 
issue, the Court of Appeals reasoned that it 
should determine, as a threshold matter, whether 
Section 853(a) authorized forfeiture under a joint 
and several liability theory.  After directing the 
parties to address that issue, the panel held that 
the statute contained no such authority and 
vacated the forfeiture order. 
 
 The panel recognized that all other 
circuits have held that a defendant convicted in a 
criminal case is jointly and severally liable for the 
proceeds of the offense that were reasonably 
foreseeable to him whether he personally 
received those proceeds or not.  Those cases 
base joint and several liable on two theories: 
Pinkerton liability, which makes a conspiracy 
defendant liable for the foreseeable acts of his 
co-conspirators; and the statutory language 
making a defendant liable for all proceeds that he 
obtained “directly or indirectly” as a result of his 
offense.  But the court held that neither of these 
rationales had merit. 
 
 The Pinkerton doctrine, the court said, 
applies only to a defendant’s substantive liability, 
“not to the consequences of that liability.”  And in 
light of the rule of lenity, it held that the term 
“property obtained indirectly” should apply only to 
property that the defendant personally obtained 
by indirect means – e.g., through an intermediary 
– and not to property obtained by a person acting 
in concert with him. 
 
 The Government noted that Section 
853(o) instructs courts to interpret the forfeiture 
statute liberally to achieve its remedial purpose, 
but the panel could find nothing in the legislative 
history to suggest that holding a mid-level 
manager liable for the gross proceeds of a drug 
conspiracy was one of the statute’s remedial 
purposes. 
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 Accordingly, the court held that under 
Section 853(a), a forfeiture order in a criminal 
case must be limited to the amount of money that 
the defendant personally obtained, and 
remanded the case to the district court to 
determine what that amount should be.  SDC 
 
Contact: Appellate Section Attorney Nina 
Goodman 
 
Comment: The doctrine of joint and several 
liability in criminal forfeiture cases has been so 
well-established in so many circuits for so long 
that it is simply shocking to see an appellate 
court flatly disagree with all of the foregoing case 
law and reach a different conclusion.   
 
There is no doubt that this is a result-oriented 
decision: the panel did not like holding a mid-
level employee of a drug cartel liable for $15 
billion, but instead of addressing that issue under 
the Eighth Amendment as other courts have 
done, it chose to read the forfeiture statute 
narrowly, and thus avoid the constitutional issue.  
In doing so, the court appears to have been 
blissfully unaware of the havoc its decision will 
wreak in a host of cases, including white collar 
cases in which the Government is trying to use 
the forfeiture laws to recover money for victims 
from the defendant with the deepest pocket. 
 
Indeed, the way the panel chose to clobber the 
forfeiture statute with a sledge hammer rather 
that finding a narrowly-tailored way to deal with 
uncomfortable facts is reminiscent of what the 
Supreme Court plurality did to the money 
laundering statute in Santos in 2009 – a case 
that, ironically, the panel cites in support of its 
decision. 
 
The fact is that innumerable courts have 
accepted one or the other of the two rationales 
for joint and several liability: Pinkerton liability or 
the notion that property “obtained” by a 
defendant “indirectly” includes property that is 
obtained by persons acting in concert with him.  

The cases are collected in Section XII of my 
Criminal Forfeiture Case Outline and in Section 
19-5 of Asset Forfeiture Law in the United States 
(2nd ed. 2013).  The most recent appellate case 
is United States v. Roberts, 660 F.3d 149, 165 
(2d Cir. 2011) (joint and several liability for the 
amount of the money judgment in a drug case is 
mandatory), aff’g United States v. Roberts, 696 
F. Supp.2d 263, 267 (E.D.N.Y. 2010) (collecting 
cases). 
 
If the court was truly discomforted by the 
imposition of a multi-billion dollar forfeiture 
judgment on a mid-level co-conspirator, it could 
have done what other courts have done in that 
situation: hold that making a mid- or low-level 
participant in a massive conspiracy liable to 
forfeit the proceeds of the entire offense under a 
joint and several liability theory may violate the 
Excessive Fines Clause.  See United States v. 
Jalaram, Inc., 599 F.3d 347, 354-56 (4th Cir. 
2010) (a forfeiture based on joint and several 
liability could be disproportional if the defendant’s 
role in the offense were truly minor; but holding 
that given the seriousness of the offense and the 
defendant’s central role over a period of six 
months, the forfeiture was not excessive); United 
States v. Van Brocklin, 115 F.3d 587, 602 (8th 
Cir. 1997) (money judgment equal to entire 
amount realized as proceeds of bank fraud 
scheme is excessive as applied to a minor 
participant who, unlike her codefendants, reaped 
little benefit personally); United States v. Elder, 
682 F.3d 1065, 1073 (8th Cir. 2012) (citing Van 
Brocklin and noting that a person held jointly and 
severally liable may have an Eighth Amendment 
argument); United States v. Stivers, 2010 WL 
2365307, *7-9 (E.D. Ky. June 11, 2010) (applying 
Jalaram but rejecting Eighth Amendment 
challenge because defendant played a major role 
in the offense, the offense (RICO/money 
laundering/extortion) was serious and caused 
great harm, and the maximum fine for RICO and 
money laundering is limited only by the amount 
involved in the offense; thus the fact that 
defendant obtained little money personally was 
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irrelevant).  Cf. Paroline v. United States, ___ 
U.S. ___, ___ S. Ct. ___, 2014 WL 1612426 
(April 23, 2014) (holding each defendant in a 
child porn case liable for the full amount of the 
victim’s losses would violate the Eighth 
Amendment, where there were thousands of 
wrongdoers, separated in time and space, acting 
independently with no contact with each other; in 
such cases the restitution should be proportional 
to the defendant’s role in causing the victim’s 
loss). 

As the Fourth Circuit held last year, “the 
Government’s ability to collect on a [forfeiture] 
judgment often far surpasses that of an untutored 
or impecunious victim of crime.”  Thus, 
“realistically, a victim’s hope of getting paid may 
rest on the Government’s superior ability to 
collect and liquidate a defendant’s assets” under 
the forfeiture laws.  United States v. Blackman, 
746 F.3d 137, 143 (4th Cir. 2014).  See Kaley v. 
United States, ___ U.S. ___, 134 S. Ct. 1090, 
___ n.1 (2014) (citing statistics on the 
Government’s use of forfeited funds to 
compensate victims).  In fraud cases, the 
Government’s “superior ability” is dependent on 
its ability to hold all defendants jointly and 
severally liable, as they would be in a tort case, 
regardless of the amount of money each 
defendant individually obtained.  Otherwise, if 
the defendant who obtained the lion’s share of 
the criminal proceeds cannot be convicted 
(because he is deceased or a fugitive), or has 
spent all of the proceeds and has no substitute 
assets to forfeit, the Government may recover 
nothing – even though there are other 
defendants with ample resources that could be 
recovered and used to make the victims whole.  
Accordingly, I would argue that recovering 
property for restitution is one of the “remedial 
purposes” that justifies a liberal construction of 
the statute under Section 853(o). 

In all events, it seems certain that unless the 
Court of Appeals reconsiders its decision and 
takes the alternate route suggested by the Eighth 

Amendment cases, this case will make it much 
harder for the Government to “collect and 
liquidate a defendant’s assets under the forfeiture 
laws” and use them to reimburse victims in the 
District of Columbia.  SDC 

 

Treasury Offset Program 

Money the Government agrees to return as part 
of the settlement of a civil forfeiture case is 
subject to an offset for payments the claimant 
owes under the Treasury Offset Program (TOP). 
 
Application of the TOP does not impermissibly 
deprive the claimant of the benefit of his bargain 
in the forfeiture case. 

 
United States v. $37,000 in U.S. Currency, ___ 
F.Supp.3d ___, 2015 WL 4606076 (S.D. Ind. July 
15, 2015). 
 
S.D. Ind. * Claimant and the Government agreed 
to settle a civil forfeiture case, with Claimant 
agreeing to forfeit $25,900 as drug proceeds, and 
the Government agreeing to return $11,100 to 
Claimant.  The court issued a forfeiture order 
ratifying the settlement and the U.S. Marshals 
directed the Department of the Treasury to 
release the $11,100 to Claimant.  But Treasury 
discovered that Claimant owed child support 
payments to the State of Indiana, and 
accordingly reduced the payment to him to $1 
pursuant to the Treasury Offset Program (TOP), 
31 U.S.C. § 3716. 
 
 Claimant protested that this was unfair 
because it did not give him the benefit of his 
bargain with the Government and violated the 
terms of the court order approving the settlement.  
But the court was unimpressed. 
 
 Section 3716 requires Treasury, as a 
matter of law, to offset any “federal payment” to 
reflect a debt owed to the United States or any 
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State.  The release of seized funds pursuant to a 
settlement agreement, the court said, is a 
payment made by Treasury, and thus is a 
“federal payment.”  So the offset requirement 
applied. 
 
 Nor did the application of the offset violate 
the court order approving the settlement.  The 
order, the court said, merely directed the 
payment of funds to Claimant; it did not say that 
the payment would be exempt from the offset 
requirement.  So Claimant’s motion to enforce 
the order approving the settlement was denied.  
SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Debra Richards 
 
Comment: The district courts are actually 
divided as to whether the return of seized funds 
in a forfeiture case is a “federal payment” within 
the meaning of the TOP.  A court in California 
held that it is not, while a court in Wisconsin held 
that it is.  Compare In re Return of Seized 
Property (Artis and Douglas), 2011 WL 3759702 
(S.D. Cal. August 23, 2011) (rejecting the 
Government’s argument that the DCIA trumps 
the requirement in § 983(a)(3) that the 
Government return the property to the claimant if 
it does not commence a judicial forfeiture within 
90 days) with United States v. Approximately 
$3,174 in U.S. Currency, 928 F. Supp. 2d 1040, 
1044-45 (E.D. Wis. Mar. 8, 2013) (return of 
seized property when the Government 
unilaterally dismisses a forfeiture complaint is a 
“payment” that must be offset if the claimant 
owes a debt such as a delinquent student loan to 
the U.S.; declining to follow Artis and Douglas).  
The court adopts the reasoning of the Wisconsin 
case.   
 
Congratulations both to AUSA Debra Richards 
who won this case, and to AUSA Scott Campbell 
who won the Wisconsin case in 2013 and 
assisted with the briefing in this case.  
Teamwork.  SDC 
 

Money Laundering – Section 1957 / Monetary 
Transaction / Interstate Commerce 
 
Using fraud proceeds to purchase a cashier’s 
check is a monetary transaction affecting 
interstate commerce in violation of Section 1957. 

 
United States v. Deason, ___ Fed. Appx. ___, 
2015 WL 4709584 (5th Cir. Aug. 7, 2015). 
 
Fifth Circuit * Defendant, a financial planner, 
defrauded his widowed client of her $1 million life 
insurance settlement and used part of the money 
to purchase a cashier’s check at Wells Fargo 
Bank.  Convicted of money laundering under 
Section 1957, he appealed on two grounds: that 
because a cashier’s check does not fall within the 
definition of a “monetary instrument,” his 
purchase of the check was not a “monetary 
transaction” within the meaning of Section 1957, 
and that there was no evidence that his purchase 
of the check affected interstate commerce.  The 
panel rejected both arguments. 
 
 It is not necessary for a transaction to 
involve a monetary instrument to constitute a 
“monetary transaction.”  As set forth in Section 
1957(a), a “monetary transaction” includes the 
transfer of any “funds” through a financial 
institution as well as any “transaction involving 
the use of a financial institution.”  Defendant’s 
purchase of the cashier’s check qualified as a 
“monetary transaction” on either ground. 
 
 Moreover, the Government satisfied the 
interstate commerce requirement merely by 
showing that the transaction occurred at Wells 
Fargo Bank, a financial institution with branches 
throughout the United States. 
 
 So the Section 1957 conviction was 
affirmed.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSAs Brian Poe and Gail Hayworth 
(N.D. Tex.) 
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Money Laundering / Cross-Examination of 
Case Agent  
 
Court does not allow defendant in a money 
laundering case to use the position the 
Government took in pre-trial forfeiture 
proceedings to establish that his property was 
not SUA proceeds through cross-examination of 
the case agent. 

 
United States v. Randolph, ___ F.3d ___, 2015 
WL 4503250 (6th Cir. July 24, 2015) 
 
Sixth Circuit * Defendant was charged with 
conspiracy to launder drug proceeds.  His 
defense was that the funds involved in the 
financial transactions were not derived from his 
drug offense. 
 
 Prior to trial, the Government attempted 
to restrain money seized from Defendant’s bank 
accounts for forfeiture, but conceded that the 
funds were only forfeitable as substitute assets.  
Defendant tried to use this concession in his 
money laundering trial through the cross-
examination of the case agent.  The district court 
did not allow him to do so, so when Defendant 
was convicted, he appealed 
 
 The panel held that the district court did 
not err in refusing to allow Defendant to elicit 
from the case agent that the Government had 
characterized Defendant’s property as “substitute 
assets” in the pre-trial forfeiture proceeding.  
“Delving into the specifics of the pretrial 
proceedings,” the panel said, “would be 
confusing for the jury.”  Moreover, Defendant 
had the opportunity through alternative means of 
attempting to establish that the funds seized from 
his bank accounts constituted legitimate income. 
 
 So Defendant’s conviction for money 
laundering conspiracy was affirmed.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Sunny Koshy (M.D. Tenn.) and 
DOJ Attorney David Lieberman 

Civil Money Laundering – Section 1956(b) / 
Foreign SUA / Tracing / Motion to Dismiss 
Complaint / Jurisdiction Over a Foreign 
Person 
 
The Government combines a civil forfeiture 
action against property involved in a money 
laundering offense with a civil enforcement action 
against the corporations that committed the 
offense. 
 
There is personal jurisdiction against a foreign 
corporation that committed a money laundering 
offense in the United States if the corporation 
had sufficient contacts with the United States in 
terms of the applicable state long-arm statute. 
 
Wire fraud cannot serve as the SUA for money 
laundering if the underlying wire transaction 
occurred wholly outside of the United States; that 
a dollar transaction involved money passing 
momentarily through a U.S. bank is not sufficient. 
 
Theft or misappropriation of public funds by a 
public official in violation of foreign law, however, 
may serve as an SUA in terms of Section 
1956(c)(7)(B). 
 
For the purpose of surviving a motion to dismiss 
its civil forfeiture complaint, the Government may 
use the accounting techniques approved in 
Banco Cafetero to show that the property subject 
to forfeiture in a civil forfeiture case is traceable 
to the crime giving rise to the forfeiture. 

 
United States v. Prevezon Holdings, Ltd., 2015 
WL 4719786 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 7, 2015). 
 
S.D.N.Y. * A Russian criminal organization stole 
the identities of legitimate Russian companies 
and used them to obtain undeserved tax refunds 
totaling $230 million from the Russian Treasury.  
In a civil lawsuit, the Government alleged that 
$1.9 million of the proceeds of the Russian 
offense found its way to bank accounts held by 
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Defendant in New York, where Defendant used it 
to purchase real property in Manhattan. 
 
 The civil action combined a request to 
forfeit the property involved in the money 
laundering offense under Section 981(a)(1)(A), 
with a civil money laundering action for monetary 
penalties under 18 U.S.C. § 1956(b).  
Defendant, a domestic corporation that owned 
the Manhattan properties, filed a claim in the 
forfeiture action, and was named, along with two 
foreign corporations, as the defendant in the 
Section 1956(b) action. 
 
 Defendant moved to dismiss the forfeiture 
action on a variety of grounds.  First, it argued 
that the complaint failed to trace any of the $230 
million in alleged fraud proceeds into Defendant’s 
bank account.  But the court held that for 
purposes of meeting the pleading requirements 
in Rule G(2)(f), the Government may use the 
accounting techniques approved by the Second 
Circuit in the Banco Cafetero case – e.g., 
proceeds in / first out – to show that the 
defendant property is traceable to the offense 
giving rise to the forfeiture.   
 
 Defendant protested that the Government 
will not be able to replicate that tracing analysis 
with admissible evidence at trial, but the court 
held the Government does not have to establish 
that it will prevail at trial to withstand a motion to 
dismiss.  To the contrary, it need only allege 
sufficient facts to support a reasonable belief that 
it will be able to meet its burden of proof at trial.  
The court held that with the aid of the accounting 
techniques approved in Banco Cafetero, the 
complaint met that standard. 
  
 Next, Defendant argued that the 
complaint failed to allege a ‘specified unlawful 
activity’ (SUA) to support the money laundering 
allegation.  In fact, the complaint alleged two 
possible SUAs: wire fraud in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 1343, and a violation of Russian law 
relating to misappropriation or theft of public 

funds.  The court agreed with Defendant that 
there was no factual basis for the wire fraud 
allegation, but it held that the Russian offense 
could serve as the SUA. 
 
 To constitute an offense under the wire 
fraud statute, the conduct must occur at least in 
part in the United States.  Here, the fraudulent 
transactions occurred entirely in Russia or in 
other foreign countries such as Latvia and 
Moldova.  The only nexus to the United States 
was that one of the alleged wire fraud 
transactions involved the movement of U.S. 
dollars between foreign banks, with the money 
passing momentarily through a bank in New 
York.  That transfer, the court said, “was not 
sufficiently central to the overall fraud scheme to 
convert this foreign scheme into a domestic one.” 
 
 Nevertheless, the court agreed with the 
Government that the Russian offense could 
properly serve as the SUA for money laundering.  
Section 1956(c)(7)(B)(iv) provides that an offense 
against a foreign nation involving 
“misappropriation, theft, or embezzlement of 
public funds by or for the benefit of public 
officials” may serve as the predicate for money 
laundering if the financial transaction charged as 
the money laundering offense occurred at least in 
part in the United States.  The facts alleged in 
the complaint met this standard: the underlying 
fraud involved Russian public officials and 
violated Russian law, and the ensuing money 
laundering offense occurred in New York. 
 
 Defendant also argued that the complaint 
did not contain facts sufficient to support the 
scienter requirement of the money laundering 
statute.  Nothing in the complaint, Defendant 
said, suggested that Defendant knew that the 
money it received in its U.S. bank account was 
illegally derived.  But the court held that the 
allegation that Defendant, a real estate company, 
received “with no questions asked” nearly $2 
million in wire transfers labeled as “prepayment 
for sanitary equipment” from shell companies 
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located overseas was sufficient to support a 
reasonable belief that the Government would be 
able to prove knowledge – or at least willful 
blindness – of the illegal source of the money at 
trial. 
 
 Finally, with respect to the civil money 
laundering allegation under Section 1956(b), two 
of the corporate defendants – both incorporated 
in the British Virgin Islands (BVI) -- argued that 
the district court lacked personal jurisdiction over 
them because they had little or no connection 
with the United States.  The court held, however, 
that because of the overlapping ownership 
between the domestic corporation and the two 
BVI corporations and the alleged “upstream” role 
of the BVI corporations in the money laundering 
transactions, the two foreign corporations had 
availed themselves “of the privilege of doing 
business in New York” in a way that was 
sufficient to support the court’s jurisdiction under 
New York’s long-arm statute.  
 
 So the motion to dismiss was denied on 
all grounds. SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Paul Monteleoni 
 
Comment: There is a great deal going on in this 
case.  First, it is a prime example of the use of a 
frequently-overlooked provision in the money 
laundering statute: the ability to seek monetary 
damages in a civil action under Section 1956(b).  
When the sole defendant is a corporation, no one 
is going to jail even if the Government obtains a 
conviction; the only sanction is a monetary 
penalty.  But the monetary penalties than can be 
imposed on a corporation in a criminal case are 
no different from the monetary penalties that 
apply under Section 1956(b).  Compare 18 
U.S.C. § 982(a)(1) (authorizing the criminal 
forfeiture of an amount of money equal to the 
value of the property involved in a money 
laundering offense) with 18 U.S.C. § 1956(b)(1) 
(making a defendant in a civil money laundering 
case liable to the United States for a civil penalty 

equal to the value of the property involved in the 
money laundering transaction). 
 
Accordingly, when the defendant is a corporation, 
the Government can achieve the same result 
under Section 1956(b) as it could obtain in a 
criminal case, but under the lower standard of 
proof. 
 
The case also shows that it is possible to 
combine an in rem civil forfeiture action under 
Section 981(a)(1)(A) with an in personam civil 
enforcement action under Section 1956(b) where 
both actions are based on the same alleged 
violation of the money laundering laws.  Doing 
so can be problematic: because the two causes 
of action are conceptually distinct – one is in rem 
and the other is in personam -- the claimants in 
the civil forfeiture action need not been the same 
as the defendants in the civil enforcement action, 
and a case that involved two sets of claimants / 
defendants could become quite unwieldy.  But 
that was not a problem in this case, and no one 
seems to have objected to the consolidation of 
the two actions. 
 
The personal jurisdiction issue is also interesting.  
Section 1956(b)(2) contains its own provision 
setting forth the basis for the court’s exercise of 
personal jurisdiction over a defendant in a civil 
money laundering case.  That provision was 
added to the statute in recognition of the difficulty 
a court might have in exercising jurisdiction over 
a foreign corporation alleged to have committed 
a money laundering offense in the United States 
– a common scenario in Section 1956(b) cases.  
But for whatever reason, the court in this case 
never mentions Section 1956(b)(2); instead, it 
relies on New York’s long-arm statute and finds 
that the BVI corporations had a sufficient 
connection to New York to justify the exercise of 
jurisdiction under that law. 
 
Finally, the case illustrates both the limitations of 
relying on the domestic wire fraud statute as the 
SUA for a money laundering offense that 



 

 
 
 
 

15 

involves the proceeds of a foreign crime, and the 
utility of relying instead on the list of foreign 
SUAs in Section 1956(c)(7)(B) in that situation.  
It is worth noting that while the court insisted on 
the Government’s alleging sufficient facts to 
support each of the elements of the federal 
money laundering offense, including the 
knowledge and proceeds elements, it did not, 
with respect to the foreign SUA, require the 
Government to cite the relevant Russian statute, 
to list the elements of the Russian offense, or to 
allege facts supporting its proof of those 
elements as a matter of Russian law.  Rather, 
the inference to be drawn from the court’s silence 
on those points is that at least for purposes of 
alleging a money laundering offense based on a 
foreign SUA, the Government’s need only show 
that its evidence satisfies the general description 
of the offense in Section 1956(c)(7)(B).  SDC  
 
 
Standing / Special Interrogatories  
 
To survive a motion for summary judgment for 
lack of standing, it is sufficient for the claimant to 
assert that he is the owner of the property and 
show that it was in his possession when it was 
seized. 
 
The claimant does not have to prove his 
ownership of the property to establish standing; 
by requiring the claimant to do so, the district 
court crossed the line between standing and the 
merits. 

 
Because special interrogatories must be limited 
to testing the claimant’s standing, claimant 
sufficiently answered the special interrogatories 
when he said that he was the owner of the 
property and that it was seized from his 
possession. 

 
United States v. Funds in the Amount of 
$239,400, ___ F.3d ___, 2015 WL 4530529 (7th 
Cir. July 28, 2015). 
 

Seventh Circuit * DEA agents noted that 
Claimant, a passenger on a cross-country train 
trip, fit a drug courier profile, conducted a lawful 
search of his luggage, and found $239,400 
wrapped in saran wrap and tin foil and bundled 
with rubber bands.  The money included 10,000 
twenty-dollar bills.  A drug dog alerted to the 
money, but no drugs were found. 
 
 Claimant asserted that he was traveling to 
purchase computer parts for his business, but 
offered no documents to support his claim. 
 
 After conducting discovery with respect to 
Claimant’s standing by serving him with special 
interrogatories, the Government filed a motion for 
summary judgment under Rule G(8)(c)(ii), 
alleging that Claimant could not establish his 
standing by a preponderance of the evidence.  
The district court – taking an adverse inference 
from Claimant’s refusal to answer the special 
interrogatories beyond saying that he was the 
owner of the property and that it was seized from 
his possession -- granted the motion.  United 
States v. Funds in the Amount of $239,400, 70 F. 
Supp. 3d 928 (N.D. Ill. 2014).  Claimant 
appealed. 
 
 On appeal, the panel held that for 
purposes of establishing Article III standing, even 
at the summary judgment stage, it is sufficient if 
the claimant asserts under oath that he is the 
owner of the property and that it was in his 
possession at the time it was seized.  Therefore 
the district court erred to the extent that it granted 
summary judgment for the Government on the 
basis of Article III standing. 
 
 The Government argued that even if that 
was so, Rule G(8)(c) requires more: in the 
Government’s view, the requirement in Rule 
G(8)(c) that the claimant establish his standing 
by a preponderance of the evidence means that 
he must actually prove that he is the owner of the 
property, and may not rely on his uncorroborated 
assertion that he is the owner and that it was in 
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his possession when it was seized.  But the 
panel did not agree. 
 
 All that Rule G requires, the panel said, is 
that the claimant establish “statutory standing” – 
i.e., that he complied with the pleading 
requirements in Rule G(5).  It does not require 
that the claimant prove that he is the owner of the 
property, even if that is the basis for his claim.  
In the court’s view, whether the claimant is the 
owner of the property is indistinguishable from 
the ultimate question on the merits – whether the 
property is derived from drug trafficking.  Thus, 
to require the claimant to prove ownership, the 
court said, would impermissibly shift the burden 
of proof on the merits to the claimant.  
 
 Finally, the Government argued that the 
district court could have dismissed the claim on 
another ground: that Claimant failed to respond 
to the special interrogatories.  In a footnote, 
however, the court held that if the district court 
had done so, it would have been wrong. 
 
 Under Rule G(6), the Government may 
serve special interrogatories limited to inquiring 
into the claimant’s standing.  Because it is 
sufficient, for standing purposes, for the claimant 
to say that he is the owner of the property and 
that it was seized from his possession, 
Claimant’s answer to that effect fully responded 
to the special interrogatories.  Any further inquiry 
by the Government into the time, place and 
manner in which Claimant acquired the 
defendant currency, the court said, was beyond 
the scope of Rule G(6). 
 
 So the entry of summary judgment by the 
district court was reversed.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Dan May (N.D. Ill.) 
 
Comment: To its credit, the panel has drawn a 
bright line in what has been a murky area.  
Where courts have disagreed as to what the 
claimant has to establish regarding standing at 

the summary judgment stage, and what the 
Government can inquire into in its special 
interrogatories, the court is clear: there is no 
requirement that the claimant prove ownership to 
establish standing, nor any requirement that he 
explain anything regarding the time, place or 
manner in which he acquired the defendant 
property.  To establish Article III standing, he 
need only assert that the property belongs to him 
and that it was seized from his possession; to 
satisfy Rule G with respect to statutory standing, 
he only has to show that he complied with the 
pleading requirements in Rule G(5).  And 
beyond that, the Government has no right to use 
special interrogatories to inquire. 
 
To say the least, not all courts agree.  While 
some do hold that a claim of ownership plus 
possession is sufficient to establish standing at 
the summary judgment stage, others hold that a 
claimant who claims that he is the owner of the 
defendant property must offer sufficient evidence 
to prove that assertion.  This is not, as the panel 
imagines, the same as requiring the claimant to 
prove that the money came from a legitimate 
source; but it does require him to prove that he is 
more than a courier carrying someone else’s 
property.  See, e.g., United States v. $122,640 
in U.S. Currency, ___ F. Supp.3d ___, 2015 WL 
363843 (D. Md. Jan. 26, 2015) (entering 
summary judgment for lack of standing where 
claim to currency seized from claimant’s 
husband’s luggage at an airport was highly 
implausible given her financial situation, and was 
blatantly contradicted by evidence Government 
obtained in discovery, including tax returns, credit 
reports, food stamp applications, and evidence 
that documents claimant submitted were 
forgeries; claimant’s credibility and evidence 
suggesting husband was a drug courier was also 
relevant).  I am happy to make my brief from that 
case available to anyone who wants it.  See also 
the cases in Section XIII.D of my Civil Forfeiture 
Case Outline as well as the summary of United 
States v. 8 Drift Street, infra.  
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Most important, other courts have held that Rule 
G(6) allows the Government to use special 
interrogatories to test the claimant’s assertion of 
ownership by demanding that he explain when, 
where, in what manner, and from whom he 
acquired the defendant property.  See United 
States v. $133,420.00 in U.S. Currency, 672 F.3d 
629, 642 (9th Cir. 2012) (special interrogatories 
are not limited to asking Claimant’s identity and 
nature of his interest in the property; if they were, 
they would ask for nothing more than what Rule 
G(5) requires to be included in the claim; rather, 
special interrogatories may inquire into the 
circumstances of claimant’s acquisition of the 
property, including time, place, manner, reason 
and identity of source).  There are many other 
cases on this point in Section X.A of my Civil 
Forfeiture Case Outline.  SDC 
 
 
Administrative Forfeiture / Due Process / 
Standing 
   
A person has standing to contest the forfeiture of 
property in his possession and under his control 
even though he admits that it is criminal 
proceeds. 
 
The absence of judicial review of a state 
administrative forfeiture proceeding does not 
violate due process. 

 
A municipality’s practice of routinely commencing 
administrative forfeiture proceedings under the 
drug laws anytime a person is found with a large 
quantity of currency is “troubling,” but the 
property owner cannot raise the issue in a lawsuit 
if he does not file a claim contesting the 
forfeiture. 

 
Langston v. Charter Township of Redford, ___ 
Fed. Appx. ___, 2015 WL 4645851 (6th Cir. Aug. 
6, 2015). 
 
Sixth Circuit * Plaintiff filed a Section 1983 
action against a Michigan municipality, alleging 

the Township’s forfeiture of his property under 
Michigan’s administrative forfeiture law – which is 
similar in most respects to the federal law – 
violated his right to due process under the Fifth 
and Fourteenth Amendments.  The district court 
granted summary judgment for the Township, 
and Plaintiff appealed. 
 
 As a threshold matter, the Township 
argued that Plaintiff lacked standing because he 
had admitted that the property seized from him at 
the time of his arrest was the proceeds of a credit 
card fraud scheme.  But the court held that a 
person in possession of property who is 
exercising dominion and control over it when it is 
seized has standing to contest its forfeiture, even 
if he admits that the property was unlawfully 
acquired. 
 
 On the merits, Plaintiff argued that 
Michigan’s statute violated due process because 
it did not provide for judicial review of the 
administrative forfeiture proceeding.  But the 
court held that as long as the state courts have 
jurisdiction to review the adequacy of the notice 
provided to potential claimants, the lack of 
judicial review of the substance of an 
administrative forfeiture does not violate due 
process. 
 
 Next, Plaintiff argued that the state 
forfeiture proceeding did not provide an adequate 
opportunity for indigent, disabled or incarcerated 
persons to contest the forfeiture.  The court 
acknowledged that Plaintiff’s incarceration made 
it more difficult for him to contest the forfeiture 
but held that indigence and incarceration alone 
do not provide a sufficient basis for a due 
process challenge. 
 
 Finally, Plaintiff alleged that the Township 
violated his due process rights by seizing his 
property pursuant to a policy of routinely 
commencing administrative forfeiture 
proceedings under the drug laws any time a 
person is found with a large sum of currency in 
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his possession, even though there is no known 
nexus to drug trafficking.  The court was 
“troubled” by the testimony of a police officer who 
admitted that routinely seizing and forfeiting 
currency as “drug money” is “what we do.”  But it 
held that if Plaintiff wanted to challenge the 
forfeiture of his money on the merits he should 
have filed a claim in the administrative forfeiture 
proceeding, which he did not do. 
 
 So the court affirmed the district court’s 
grant on summary judgment on behalf of the 
Township on these issues.  SDC 
 
 
Standing / Innocent Owner / Bona Fide 
Purchaser 
 
Standing and ownership are different concepts; 
the holder of bare legal title may have Article III 
standing to contest a forfeiture even if he is not 
an “owner” because he fails to exercise dominion 
and control. 
 
“Statutory standing” refers to the pleading 
requirements in Rule G(5); one does not have to 
be an “owner” within the meaning of Section 
983(d)(6) to have statutory standing. 
 
A person who gives up a cause of action in debt 
in exchange for an interest in property is a 
“purchaser for value” within the meaning of the 
bona fide purchaser prong of the innocent owner 
defense. 

 
United States v. Real Property . . . 246 Main 
Street, 2015 WL 4254381 (M.D. Fla. July 13, 
2015). 
 
M.D. Fla. * Defendant perpetrated an investment 
fraud scheme and used some of the proceeds to 
buy a parcel of real property in New York.  When 
one of the Victims caught on to the scheme, 
Defendant settled his claim by quit-claiming the 
property to him. 
 

 The Government nevertheless filed a civil 
forfeiture action against the property, alleging 
that it was the proceeds of the fraud scheme and 
was involved in a violation of the money 
laundering statute; but Victim filed a claim 
asserting that he was an innocent owner of the 
property under the bona fide purchaser provision 
in Section 983(d)(3) and moved for summary 
judgment.   
  
 The crux of Victim’s claim was that he did 
not know that the property was subject to 
forfeiture at the time he accepted the quitclaim 
deed.  He alleged that he thought Defendant 
was a wealthy person who owned property – 
including this particular parcel – that was derived 
from legitimate sources unrelated to his fraud 
scheme.  The Government opposed his claim on 
a variety of grounds. 
 
 First, the Government argued that Victim 
lacked both Article III and statutory standing 
because he did not exercise dominion and 
control over the property and thus was not an 
“owner” of the property within the meaning of 
Section 983(d)(6), but the court disagreed.  
“Ownership” and “standing” are different 
concepts, the court said.  A person who holds 
bare legal title, even if he does not exercise 
dominion and control over the property, has 
Article III standing even if he is not an “owner” 
within the meaning of the statute.   
 
 Moreover, the court said, the statutory 
definition of “owner” in Section 983(d)(6) has no 
bearing on whether a claimant has statutory 
standing.  A person has statutory standing if he 
files a valid claim in accordance with Rule G(5); 
which Victim did; the definition of “owner” in 
Section 983(d)(6) comes into play only with 
respect to the merits of the innocent owner 
defense.  Thus, the court held that Victim had 
both Article III and statutory standing. 
 
 Turning to the merits of Victim’s innocent 
owner defense, the court acknowledged that 
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Victim had the burden of showing that he was the 
“owner” of the property within the meaning of 
Section 983(d)(6) and that a mere nominee who 
does not exercise dominion and control over the 
property is not an owner.  But the court rejected 
the Government’s argument that just because 
Victim had not recorded his deed and was not in 
physical possession of the property he did not 
exercise dominion and control. 
 
 The record made clear, the court said, 
that Victim had made every effort to record his 
deed as an owner would do, and that in any 
event, New York law does not require the 
recording of a deed before a person is 
recognized as an owner.  That he had not taken 
physical possession of the property was not 
dispositive. 
 
 The court then turned to the 
Government’s argument that Victim was not a 
bona fide purchaser for value because the 
transfer of the property was merely a payment on 
an antecedent debt (and thus not a “purchase” 
within the meaning of commercial law), and 
because Victim had reason to know that the 
property was derived from or involved in the 
fraud and money laundering offenses at the time 
he acquired his interest.  But the court rejected 
both arguments. 
 
 When Victim accepted the quitclaim deed 
in satisfaction of his debt, the court said, he was 
giving up a cause of action and thus gave value 
for the property in an arm’s length transaction.  
Thus, he qualified as a bona fide purchaser for 
value. 
 
 Finally, to satisfy the “without reason to 
know the property was subject to forfeiture” 
prong of the BFP defense, Victim only had to 
show that he was unaware of the connection 
between the property and Defendant’s crime.  
His knowledge of Defendant’s fraudulent conduct 
“did not place him on notice that every piece of 
property, real or personal, wherever situated, 

whenever acquired, and however held, was 
subject to forfeiture.” 
 
 Because the Government offered no 
evidence that Victim was aware or had reason to 
know of the connection between Defendant’s 
criminal conduct and the property at the time he 
accepted the quitclaim deed, there was no 
material issue of fact on that issue, and 
accordingly Victim was entitled to summary 
judgment on his innocent owner defense.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Bonnie Glober 
 
Comment: Many aspects of this decision are 
open to debate, but none of the analysis is 
clearly wrong.  The fact is that the courts are 
divided on many of these issues, and in each 
instance the court sided with the line of cases 
that favor claimants over the Government. 
 
First, the court is correct in noting that ownership 
and standing are different concepts and are not 
necessarily co-extensive.  A person can have 
Article III standing, in other words, without being 
an “owner” as defined in Section 983(d)(6).  See 
the summary of $239,400, supra.  Even so, 
many courts have held that the holder of bare 
legal title lacks Article III standing if he does not 
exercise dominion and control over the property, 
but many others, like this court, hold that bare 
legal title is sufficient.  See United States v. One 
Lincoln Navigator 1998, 328 F.3d 1011, 1013 
(8th Cir. 2003) and other cases cited in Sections 
XIII.B and C.4 of my Civil Forfeiture Case 
Outline. 

Most courts, like the court in this case, also hold 

that statutory standing is established as long as 

the claimant complies with the pleading 

requirements in Rule G(5).  A significant 

minority of courts hold, as the Government 

argued, that the term “statutory standing” also 
includes a requirement that the claimant be an 

“owner” of the defendant property within the 
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meaning of Section 983(d)(6), but the court did 

not mention those cases.  They are collected in 

Section 10-2 of Asset Forfeiture Law in the 

United States (2d ed. 2013).  

With respect to the “purchaser” requirement, 
many courts hold that a person who merely 

collects an antecedent debt, or who obtains a 

judgment lien on property in an attempt to do 

so, does not thereby qualify as a “purchaser” 
because he gives nothing of value in exchange 

for the property.  See, e.g., United States v. 

Caro, 2010 WL 680939, *5-6 (S.D. Fla. Feb. 23, 

2010) (creditor has no interest until he records 

a lien, and at that point is not a “purchaser” as 
that term is used in commercial law; following 

BCCI Holdings).  Others, however, like this 

court, hold that when one surrenders a cause of 

action by “swapping” a debt for an interest in 
property, he has given something of value in an 

arm’s length transaction and thus is the 
“purchaser” of the property.  See Section 

XXI.F.5 of my Criminal Forfeiture Case Outline.  

The part of the opinion that concerns me the 

most is the last section.  The court is correct in 

holding that the “without reason to know that 
the property is subject to forfeiture” requirement 
in Section 983(d)(3) refers to the claimant’s 
knowledge of the nexus between the property 

and the defendant’s offense, and not to his 
knowledge of the defendant’s wrongdoing.  A 
claimant may know that the person selling him 

property is a thief, but may not know that the 

property is stolen property. 

But what the claimant knew or did not know 

regarding the illegal source of the property 

seems to be a classic issue for a trier of fact to 

decide at trial.  I don’t see, in other words, how 

the court could find that there was no triable 

issue of fact on that issue and grant summary 

judgment for the claimant.  That the 

Government did not offer evidence of the 

claimant’s knowledge seems like a weak 
foundation for the court’s result-driven 

conclusion.  SDC 
 
 
Standing / Motion for Summary Judgment 
 
Court grants summary judgment for lack of 
standing where claimant admitted in his 
discovery responses that he had no ownership 
interest in the defendant currency, did not 
possess it, and exercised no dominion or control 
over it, but claimed he had given it to a family 
member as a gift. 

 
United States v. $1,101.00 in U.S. Currency, 
2015 WL 4459208 (W.D. Wash. July 20, 2015). 
 
W.D. Wash. * The Government filed a civil 
forfeiture action against $31,550 in currency that 
was seized from Claimant’s father, a person 
engaged in illegal cigarette trafficking, alleging 
that it was subject to forfeiture as the proceeds of 
that offense.  Claimant filed a claim, asserting 
that he had standing to contest the forfeiture 
because he provided funds to his parents for 
their living expenses.  The Government moved 
for summary judgment for lack of standing. 
 
 At the summary judgment stage, a 
claimant has the burden of setting forth sufficient 
facts, by affidavit or other evidence, to establish 
Article III standing on the ground that he had an 
ownership or other interest in the defendant 
property.  Here, the court said, Claimant failed to 
do so; indeed, by admitting in his discovery 
responses that he had no ownership interest in 
the defendant currency, that it was not in his 
possession when seized, and that he exercised 
no dominion or control over it, Claimant left the 
court with no choice but to grant summary 
judgment to the Government because Claimant 
lacked standing. 
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 Claimant’s assertion that he provided 
support to his parents, the court said, was 
nothing more than a claim that he had given his 
parents a gift.  But the donor of a gift has no 
standing to contest the forfeiture of the gift once it 
is made.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Rich Cohen 
 
 
Standing / Motion for Summary Judgment  
 
The Government is entitled to summary judgment 
for lack of standing where Claimant has no 
evidence that the money seized from his son is 
the same money that he gave to his son two 
years earlier. 
 
Moreover, even if the claimant did give the 
money to his son, his failure to exercise dominion 
and control over it for two years precluded his 
assertion of a legal interest in it. 

 
United States v. $96,370.00 in U.S. Currency, 
2015 WL 4937546 (M.D. Ala. Aug. 17, 2015). 
 
M.D. Ala. * A police officer stopped Claimant’s 
son for a traffic violation, smelled marijuana, 
conducted a search, and discovered $96,370 in 
cash in the lining of a suitcase.  A drug dog 
alerted to the money and the son was arrested. 
 
 The son explained that the money came 
from the sale of his car plus $10,000 in savings, 
and said that he had just picked up the money 
from his mother who had been holding it for him 
for safe-keeping.  In contrast, Claimant filed a 
claim asserting that the money was the remnant 
of $150,000 that he had “invested” in his son two 
years earlier “to help him establish himself.”  
 
 The Government filed a motion for 
summary judgment asserting that Claimant could 
not establish Article III standing under Rule 
G(8)(c), and Claimant filed a cross-motion to 
dismiss the complaint.  Because standing is the 

threshold issue, the court addressed the 
Government’s motion first, and granted summary 
judgment for lack of standing. 
 
 Claimant faced two problems in 
attempting to establish standing.  First, he was 
unable to offer any evidence that the $96,370 
seized from his son during the traffic stop was 
the same money that he allegedly invested in his 
son two years earlier.  Indeed, the son’s account 
of the source of the money was at odds with 
Claimant’s story.  In these circumstances, even 
if everything Claimant said regarding the 
$150,000 “investment” was true, his 
uncorroborated claim that the seized money was 
traceable to the $150,000 investment was 
insufficient to allow a reasonable finder of fact to 
conclude that he had established an interest in 
the money by a preponderance of the evidence.  
 
 Second, in his deposition, Claimant 
admitted that his son was under no obligation to 
return the money and that Claimant exercised no 
control over it once his son took possession.  
Thus, even if the seized currency was traceable 
to the $150,000 Claimant allegedly invested in 
his son two years earlier, Claimant could not 
show that he retained any interest in it. 
 
 For both of these reasons, the court held 
that Claimant could not establish standing to 
contest the forfeiture and granted the 
Government’s motion for summary judgment. 
SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Kevin Davidson 
 
 
Standing / Motion for Summary Judgment  
 
A claimant may not rely solely on his verified 
claim and nominal ownership of property to 
survive a motion for summary judgment for lack 
of standing, but neither does he have to explain 
where every dollar invested in the defendant 
property came from. 
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United States v. Real Property Located at 8 Drift 
Street, 2015 WL 5007830 (D.N.J. Aug. 20, 2015). 
 
D.N.J. * The Government filed a civil forfeiture 
action under 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(A) and (C), 
alleging that certain real property was traceable 
to money transferred from China to the United 
States in violation of Section 2314 because it 
was stolen or taken by fraud.  Claimant, the 
titled owner of the property and the brother of the 
alleged wrongdoer, filed a claim. 
 
 After receiving Claimant’s partial answers 
to its special interrogatories, and discovering that 
Claimant had made previously inconsistent 
statements about the source of the money 
invested in the real property, the Government 
moved for summary judgment for lack of standing 
under Rule G(8)(c).  Claimant opposed the 
motion, arguing that his statement under oath 
that he was the owner of the property, coupled 
with his status as the titled owner of the property, 
was sufficient to establish his standing. 
 
 The Government’s argument was that 
Claimant was merely a nominee and not the true 
owner of the property, and that at the summary 
judgment stage, Claimant had to show that there 
was sufficient evidence in the record to allow him 
to establish his true ownership by a 
preponderance of the evidence.  The court 
agreed with the Government that Claimant could 
not rely solely on his verified claim and bare legal 
title to survive a motion for summary judgment, 
but it held that the facts of the case were 
sufficiently in dispute to preclude the entry of 
summary judgment. 
 
 That Claimant has not explained the 
source of every dollar invested in the defendant 
property, the court said, does not mean he has 
not put forth enough evidence to show a true 
interest in the property.  The facts are 
complicated, and it may be at the end of the day 
that the money will prove to be traceable to a 
Section 2314 violation, but a claimant does not 

have to prove his case on the merits to withstand 
summary judgment. 
 
 As to the Government’s arguments that 
Claimant did not fully answer the special 
interrogatories and had made prior inconsistent 
statements regarding the source of the money, 
the court had two responses.  The Government 
could have moved to compel more specific 
responses, and the inconsistent statements only 
go to Claimant’s credibility, which is not 
something the court may consider when ruling on 
a motion for summary judgment.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Marion Percell 
 
 
Foreign Bank Accounts 
 
Under the required records exception to the Fifth 
Amendment, the IRS may demand that a person 
produce records of a foreign bank account. 

 
United States v. Chabot, ___ F.3d ___, 2015 WL 
4385279 (3rd Cir. July 17, 2015). 
 
Third Circuit * The IRS sent a summons 
directing Defendants to produce records of their 
foreign bank accounts as required by 31 C.F.R. § 
1010.420.  Defendants refused, asserting that 
the records and the act of production would be 
used to incriminate them.  The district court held 
that the “required records exception” to the Fifth 
Amendment applied and ordered Defendants to 
comply with the summons.  Defendants 
appealed. 
 
 The panel upheld the district court.  The 
regulations that require the maintenance and 
production of records of foreign bank accounts 
serve predominately non-criminal purposes, 
including tax collection, development of monetary 
policy and conducting intelligence activities.  
Moreover, there is nothing inherently illegal in 
holding a foreign bank account. 
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 Accordingly, the required records 
exception to the Fifth Amendment applies, and 
an account holder must produce the records 
even though they may in a particular case be 
used in a criminal prosecution – e.g., for tax 
evasion or money laundering.  SDC 
 
Contact: Tax Division Attorney Robert Branman 
 
 
Prosecutorial Immunity 
 
Prosecutors handling civil forfeiture cases have 
absolute immunity from civil liability with respect 
to their supervision and preparation of seizure 
warrants and the presentation of the warrants to 
a court. 
 
But absolute immunity does not extend to the act 
of serving the warrant on a financial institution. 

 
Torres v. Goddard, ___ F.3d ___, 2015 WL 
______ (9th Cir. July 16, 2015). 
 
Ninth Circuit * The Arizona Attorney General’s 
Office filed civil forfeiture actions against funds 
involved in the smuggling of undocumented 
aliens into the United States.  Before filing the 
actions, an Assistant Attorney General 
supervised the preparation of the warrants and 
affidavits, reviewed them to determine that there 
was probable cause, presented the warrants to a 
judge, and personally delivered the warrants to 
the financial institution holding the funds. 
 
 Plaintiffs filed a civil rights action against 
the prosecutor under Section 1983, alleging that 
his actions violated their constitutional rights.  
The district court dismissed the action on the 
ground that the prosecutor had absolute 
immunity from such suits.  Plaintiffs appealed. 
 
 The threshold issue on appeal was 
whether the doctrine of absolute prosecutorial 
immunity applies at all in the context of a civil 

forfeiture action as opposed to a criminal 
prosecution.   The panel held that it does. 
 
 “In rem proceedings seeking the forfeiture 
of property connected to criminal activity are 
functionally analogous to criminal proceedings,” 
the court said, and “like a criminal prosecutor, a 
civil forfeiture prosecutor is likely to provoke with 
some frequency retaliatory suits by angry 
defendants.”  For that reason, the court said, 
providing only qualified immunity might 
discourage the initiation of civil forfeiture 
proceedings and impact the way a prosecutor 
conducts them once they are initiated.  The 
court thus joined all other circuits in holding that 
“absolute immunity is available to prosecutors in 
the context of civil forfeiture proceedings.” 
 
 The court then turned to the specific 
actions performed by the prosecutor in this case.  
Supervising the preparation of the warrants, 
reviewing them to determine if there was 
probable cause, and presenting the warrants to 
the judge, the court said, were all covered by 
absolute immunity because they were part of the 
prosecutorial function.  Plaintiffs argued that 
preparing warrants is really an investigative 
funds, but the panel disagreed.   
 
 The seizure of property is integral to the 
initiation of an in rem civil forfeiture proceeding, 
the court said, because it’s a prerequisite to the 
court’s jurisdiction, and is analogous to a criminal 
prosecutor’s preparation of an arrest warrant. 
 
 The court took a different view, however, 
of the prosecutor’s delivery of the seizure 
warrants to the financial institution.  “Serving and 
executing seizure warrants are the functions of 
police officers, not the traditional functions of an 
advocate,” the court said, “and thus . . . aren’t 
protected by prosecutorial immunity.” 
 
 Accordingly, the panel remanded the 
case to the district court to determine if the 
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prosecutor had qualified immunity for the act of 
serving the warrants.  SDC 
 
Contact: Arizona AAG David Weinzweig 
 
Comment: The prosecutor in this case was our 
late, highly-esteemed colleague Kip Holmes who 
died while this appeal was pending.  The lawsuit 
is being defended by his estate. 
 
The lesson for civil forfeiture prosecutors is clear: 
don’t serve the warrant yourself.  SDC 
 
 
Forfeiture and SEC Enforcement 
 
In a disgorgement action brought by the SEC, 
court allows the defendant an offset to reflect the 
value of the fraud proceeds already forfeited in a 
related criminal case. 

 
SEC v. Bergin, 2015 WL 4275509 (N.D. Tex. July 
15, 2015). 
 
N.D. Tex. * Defendant was convicted of 
securities fraud and was ordered to forfeit $1.3 
million and a Porsche automobile as the 
proceeds of his offense.  In a parallel civil 
enforcement action, the SEC, using a somewhat 
different calculation of the fraud proceeds, sought 
an order directing Defendant to disgorge $1.7 
million derived from the offense.  Defendant did 
not object to the calculation, but argued that he 
was entitled to an offset for the value of the 
proceeds already forfeited in the criminal case. 
 
 The SEC asserted that because the 
calculations were different, the criminal forfeiture 
was irrelevant to the disgorgement action.  But 
the court reasoned that because the purposes of 
the criminal forfeiture and the disgorgement 
action were the same – viz., to deprive 
Defendant of the fruits of the fraud – he was 
entitled to an offset to the extent of the $1.3 
million and the value of the Porsche.  SDC 
 

Comment: With all respect to our colleagues at 
the SEC, I think they made the wrong argument.  
The court assumed, incorrectly, that criminal 
forfeiture and the SEC’s disgorgement action 
both serve the same remedial purpose of 
depriving the defendant of the fruits of his crime, 
and that accordingly there was no legal basis for 
ordering the defendant to pay twice.  But as the 
abundant case law discussing the interplay of 
forfeiture and restitution makes clear, criminal 
forfeiture serves another purpose as well: to 
punish the defendant.  Thus, as many cases 
hold, there is nothing wrong with ordering a 
defendant to “pay twice” by forfeiting the 
proceeds of his crime and paying restitution to 
his victim.  See Section XXXIV of my Criminal 
Forfeiture Case Outline. 
 
Accordingly, the better argument for the SEC to 
have made in this case may have been to 
analogize to the restitution cases and refute the 
court’s assumption that the purpose of criminal 
forfeiture is solely the disgorgement of the 
defendant’s ill-gotten gains.  SDC 
 
 
Substitute Assets 
 
Section 853(p) does not apply when the 
Government is merely seeking to forfeit property 
to satisfy an existing money judgment. 

 
United States v. Napoli, 2015 WL 4404789 (E.D. 
Pa. July 17, 2015). 
 
E.D. Pa. * The Government filed a Rule 32.2(e) 
motion to forfeit $10,537 in Defendant’s inmate 
trust account as a substitute asset to satisfy, in 
part, an outstanding $6 million criminal forfeiture 
money judgment.   
 
  Defendant opposed the motion, arguing 
that the Government could not satisfy the 
requirements in Section 853(p).  The court 
disagreed for two reasons. 
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 First, to the extent the statute requires a 
showing that the Government was diligent in 
attempting to locate the directly-forfeitable 
property and that the property was unavailable 
due to an act or omission of the defendant, the 
Government satisfied that requirement.  A 
declaration by the Marshals Service that neither 
Defendant nor his family members were found to 
possess substantial property satisfied the due 
diligence requirement, and “it is reasonable to 
infer in these circumstances that an act or 
omission of defendant shielded ill-gotten asset 
from the Government’s reach.” 
 
 But the court also held that when the 
Government is merely seeking to enforce a 
money judgment, Section 853(p) does not apply.  
The substitute asset provision comes into play, 
the court said, when the Government is seeking 
to substitute the forfeiture of an untainted asset 
for specific, tangible property that is unavailable.  
But it does not come into play when the 
Government is attempting to use an asset to 
satisfy a judgment as any other creditor might do.  
“It is therefore unnecessary,” the court 
concluded, “for the Government to establish that 
the $10,537 is substitute property under 853(p).”  
SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Lauren Baer 
 
Comment: I am not sure about the court’s ruling 
on the second point.  In United States v. 
Newman, 659 F.3d 1235, 1242-43 (9th Cir. 
2011), the Ninth Circuit held that when the 
Government is seeking only a money judgment, it 
does not have to show that the requirements for 
forfeiting substitute assets in Section 853(p) or 
Rule 32.2(e) are satisfied.  Fair enough.  But it 
may be a stretch to say that when it is seeking to 
forfeit a substitute asset to satisfy a money 
judgment, the requirements in Section 853(p) 
similarly do not apply.  Newman, however, is the 
only case the court cites in support of its holding. 
 

On the other hand, it seems clear that if the 
Government were merely seeking to recover a 
defendant’s property under the Federal Debt 
Collection Procedures Act – which it may use to 
satisfy a forfeiture money judgment – the 
provisions of Section 853(p) would never come 
into play.  So it is a fair question to ask why the 
statute should apply just because the 
Government chooses to call its procedure for 
collecting a money judgment a “forfeiture” as 
opposed to a “debt collection.”  SDC 
 
 
Ancillary Proceeding / Proceeds / “But For” 
Test 
 
Stock that could not have been purchased but for 
the defendant’s earlier investment of fraud 
proceeds is also proceeds, even if it was 
acquired with legitimate funds. 
 
Third party who exercised the defendant’s right to 
purchase the additional stock, using legitimate 
funds to do so, does not have a “superior 
interest” under Section 853(n)(6)(A), and is not a 
bona fide purchaser for value under Section 
853(n)(6)(B). 
 
When criminal proceeds and legitimate funds are 
deposited into a commingled, jointly-held bank 
account, the innocent account holder is entitled 
to recover a pro rata share of the residual 
balance in the account under Section 
853(n)(6)(A). 

 
United States v. Galemmo, 2015 WL 4450669 
(S.D. Ohio July 20, 2015). 
 
S.D. Ohio * Defendant was convicted of 
perpetrating a multi-million dollar Ponzi scheme 
and was ordered to forfeit a host of assets, 
including 45 shares in a power company held in 
his wife’s name, and the residual balance in a 
jointly-held bank account.  His wife (“Claimant”) 
filed a claim contesting the forfeiture of the 45 
shares and her interest in the bank account. 
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 It was undisputed that Defendant 
purchased 30 of the shares in the power 
company with fraud proceeds and later 
transferred those shares to his wife for no 
consideration.  The court readily agreed with the 
Government that Claimant could not contest the 
forfeiture of those shares, but rather than simply 
holding that the transfer was void under the 
relation back doctrine (Claimant not being a bona 
fide purchaser for value), see 21 U.S.C. § 853(c) 
and (n)(6)(B), the court engaged in an extensive 
fraudulent-transfer analysis under state law, and 
concluded that Claimant never acquired an 
interest in the 30 shares. 
 
 The more interesting question concerned 
the remaining 15 shares.  Claimant purchased 
the 15 shares using legitimate funds borrowed 
from her father-in-law, invoking a right-to-
purchase that was available only to existing stock 
holders.  In short, although she used legitimate 
funds to make the purchase, she was able to do 
so only because she was the holder of stock 
purchased by Defendant with his fraud proceeds. 
 
 The court held that because Claimant 
would not have acquired the 15 shares but for 
the original investment of fraud proceeds, the 15 
shares were proceeds of the fraud even though 
they were acquired with legitimate funds, and 
that in purchasing the additional shares, Claimant 
had “usurped” a right-to-purchase that belonged 
to the Government as the true holder of the 
original shares under the relation back doctrine.  
Thus, the court held that Claimant did not have a 
superior interest in the additional shares under 
Section 853(n)(6)(A), and because she was 
aware of Defendant’s fraud when she purchased 
the shares, she could not be a bona fide 
purchaser for value under Section 853(n)(6)(B). 
 
 Finally, the court turned to Claimant’s 
assertion of an interest in the residual balance in 
the joint bank account.  The evidence showed 
that 96 percent of the deposits into the account 
came from Defendant’s Ponzi scheme, and the 

remaining 4 percent from Claimant’s salary as a 
school teacher.  Claimant wanted to recover the 
entire amount of her contribution, but the court 
awarded her only a pro rata share – i.e., 4 
percent – of the forfeited balance in the bank 
account to Claimant.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSAs Emily Glatfelter and Tim 
Mangan 
 
Comment: This case is an interesting illustration 
of the “but for” test of whether property 
constitutes fraud proceeds.  In other cases, 
courts have held that a business that would not 
exist but for the initial investment of criminal 
proceeds as ‘seed money’ is forfeitable in its 
entirety as proceeds, notwithstanding the later 
infusion of legitimate capital into the business.  
See United States v. Warshak, 631 F.3d 266, 
329-330 (6th Cir. 2010), and other cases in 
Section XXXVII.A.1 of my Criminal Forfeiture 
Case Outline.   
 
This case extends that concept: because neither 
the defendant nor his wife could have acquired 
the additional 15 shares of the power company 
but for the defendant’s initial investment of 
criminal proceeds, the additional 15 shares 
constituted proceeds as well, even though the 
defendant’s wife acquired them with her own 
legitimate funds.  It followed that because the 
shares were “proceeds,” the claimant did not 
have a superior interest under Section 
853(n)(6)(A), and because she was aware of her 
husband’s fraud when she made the purchase, 
she could not be a bona fide purchaser for value 
under Section 853(n)(6)(B).  SDC 
 
 
Discovery 
 
When a civil forfeiture complaint alleges that the 
defendant property was derived from criminal 
activity, and the claimant responds that the 
money came from legitimate sources, the 
Government has the right to compel the claimant 



 

 
 
 
 

27 

to explain and document the sources from which 
the money came. 

 
United States v. All Assets Held at Bank Julius 
Baer & Co., 2015 WL 4450899 (D.D.C. July 20, 
2015). 
 
D.D.C. * The Government filed a civil forfeiture 
action to recover more than $250 million 
deposited into over 20 bank accounts located in 
Guernsey, Antigua, Switzerland, Lithuania and 
Lichtenstein by former Ukrainian Prime Minister 
Pavel Lazerenko during the time that he held 
public office.  Among other things, the complaint 
alleged that the money was the proceeds of 
fraud, extortion, bribery and embezzlement of 
public funds. 
 
 Lazarenko answered that none of the 
funds came from any illegal source but declined 
to respond to the Government’s discovery 
requests asking him to explain and document the 
legitimate sources of the money.  In his view, the 
only issue in the case was whether the 
Government could prove that the money was 
derived from criminal activity; asking him to 
explain his legitimate sources of money, he said, 
was an invasion of his privacy and irrelevant to 
the Government’s case. 
 
 The court disagreed with Lazarenko and 
held that the Government had a right to insist on 
his response to its requests.  When a civil 
forfeiture complaint alleges that the defendant 
funds came from an illegal source, and the 
claimant responds that the money is his but that 
it came from legitimate sources, the Government 
has the right to test the claimant’s assertion 
through discovery.  Indeed, the claimant’s ability 
to explain and document the source of the money 
goes to the very heart of the Government’s case. 
 
 For example, the complaint alleged that 
Lazarenko had only minimal legitimate income 
from his position as Prime Minister during the 
years when he acquired great wealth.  That 

disparity, the court said, “would be, if proven true, 
itself evidence of the illegality the Government is 
seeking to prove.” 
 
 The court did agree with Lazarenko’s 
objection to the discovery requests in one 
respect, however.  He argued that given the 
passage of time (he last held public office in 
1998) and the lack of records, it was impossible 
for him to remember all of the legitimate sources 
from whence his wealth was derived.  The 
Government argued that given the vast sums of 
money involved, Lazarenko must have at least 
some idea where the money came from.  But the 
court agreed to allow Lazarenko to delay his 
responses to the Government’s interrogatories 
until the Government first produced all financial 
records in its possession and gave the claimant 
time to review them to refresh his recollection. 
 
 At the same time, the court added, 
Lazarenko must make his own best efforts to 
obtain the relevant records and may not “sit on 
his hands” waiting for the Government to produce 
what it has.  With that caveat, the Government’s 
motion to compel Lazarenko to answer its 
interrogatories was granted.  SDC 
 
Contact: AFMLS Attorney Dan Claman 
 
Comment: The court’s ruling in this case may 
seem obvious, but the court’s reasoning will 
provide a useful citation whenever a prosecutor 
is asked to explain why it is relevant to know 
where the defendant property in a civil forfeiture 
case came from, when the claimant denies that it 
came from an illegal source. 
 
One other discovery issue in this case was 
interesting: The claimant asked the Government 
to provide all grand jury material collected during 
the Government’s related criminal investigation.  
The Government responded that it could only 
produce such information in accordance with 
Rule 6(e) of the F.R.Crim.P., but that it would not 
object to any Rule 6(e) motion that the claimant 
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might file in the court where the criminal case 
was tried.  The court in this case approved that 
procedure as an appropriate resolution of the 
Rule 6(e) issue.  SDC 
  
 
Customs Forfeiture / Importation of Motor 
Vehicles / Delay 
 
Vehicles that are imported with their VIN 
numbers obliterated are subject to forfeiture 
whether or not the importer knew of the violation; 
the mens rea element applies only to the 
importer’s knowledge of the importation. 
 
There is no innocent owner defense to the 
forfeiture of property under 19 U.S.C. § 1627a 
because of the “Customs carve-out.” 
 
The “carve-out” also means that there is no filing 
deadline for a forfeiture complaint based on a title 
19 violation, and a six-and-a-half month delay 
does not violate due process. 

 
United States v. Two Land Rover Defenders, 
2015 WL 4603271 (D.S.C. July 29, 2015). 
 
D.S.C. * Claimant attempted to import two Land 
Rover vehicles without the documentation 
showing that they complied with applicable motor 
vehicle safety standards and EPA emission 
requirements.  Customs agents detained the 
vehicles for violation of the Customs laws, and 
Customs and Border Protection (CBP) thereafter 
commenced administrative forfeiture 
proceedings.  Ultimately, after CBP rejected 
Claimant’s remission petition, Claimant asked 
that the case be referred to the U.S. Attorney for 
judicial forfeiture, and six-and-a-half months later, 
the U.S. Attorney filed a civil forfeiture complaint. 
 
 The complaint alleged that the vehicles 
were subject to forfeiture pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 
1595a(c)(2)(A) because they were imported 
“contrary to law” due to their non-compliance with 
the safety and emissions standards, and 

pursuant 19 U.S.C. § 1627a(a)(2) because their 
VIN numbers had been removed, obliterated, 
tampered with or altered. 
 
 Among other things, Claimant moved to 
dismiss the complaint on the ground that it failed 
to allege the mens rea element of the Section 
1627a offense.  In his view, property is subject 
to forfeiture under that statute only if the 
Government can prove that the importer knew 
that the vehicles’ VIN numbers had been 
removed.  But the court disagreed. 
 
 The knowledge requirement in the 
statute, the court said, applies only to the 
importation, not to the obliteration of the VIN 
number.  Therefore, as long as Claimant knew 
that the vehicles were imported, it was irrelevant 
that he did not know that the VIN numbers had 
been tampered with. 
 
 Claimant responded by raising an 
“innocent owner defense,” but the court held that 
because forfeitures under title 19 are exempted 
from CAFRA, there is no innocent owner defense 
to a forfeiture based on Section 1627a. 
 
 For similar reasons, the filing deadlines in 
CAFRA do not apply to the time for filing of a 
complaint based on a violation of an offense in 
title 19.  Thus, Claimant could not object to that 
the delay in filing the complaint – six-and-a-half 
months after he asked that his case be referred 
for judicial forfeiture – violated the 90-day 
deadline in 18 U.S.C. § 983(a)(3).  He 
nevertheless objected that the delay violated his 
right to due process under the Supreme Court’s 
decision in $8,850 in U.S. Currency.   
 
 The court held, however, that the delay 
was not inappropriate given the Government’s 
need for time to determine whether there was a 
violation of the technical requirements pertaining 
to vehicle safety and emissions.   
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 So the motion to dismiss was denied.  
SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Carrie Sherard 
 
 
Firearms 
 
Guns purchased by 70-year-old woman for her 
convicted-felon son are subject to forfeiture as 
property involved in the making of a false 
statement to a firearms dealer in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 922(a)(6). 

 
United States v. 6 Firearms, Accessories and 
Ammunition, 2015 WL 4660126 (W.D. Wash. 
Aug. 5, 2015). 
 
W.D. Wash. * The Government filed a civil 
forfeiture action against six firearms that 
Claimant, a woman in her seventies, purchased 
from various firearms dealers.  The complaint 
alleged that although Claimant stated on ATF 
Form4473 that she was purchasing the firearms 
for herself and not for a third party, she was in 
fact purchasing them for her adult son, a 
convicted felon, who Claimant knew was 
ineligible to buy the firearms for himself.   
 
 According to the Government, the false 
statements rendered the firearms subject to 
forfeiture under 18 U.S.C. § 924(d)(1) as property 
involved in a violation of Section 922(a)(6). 
 
 After hearing from a number of witnesses 
at trial, the court found that Claimant had actually 
purchased the firearms for her son and that 
accordingly her statements on the Form4473s 
were false.  Among other things, the court noted 
the unsuitability of the firearms for a person of 
Claimant’s age and physical condition (she 
lacked full use of one hand), and the testimony of 
the firearms dealers that Claimant’s son 
accompanied her on each occasion and pointed 
out the guns that she should buy. 
 

 Claimant, the court concluded, purchased 
the firearms out of love for her son and to make 
him happy, but that her actions nevertheless 
violated Section 922(a)(6), which made the guns 
subject to forfeiture.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Matt Thomas 
 
Comment: I cannot think of a better case to 
illustrate that sometimes the interests of justice 
militate in favor of using civil forfeiture even when 
there is clear proof that the wrongdoer violated 
the criminal law.  Presumably, the opponents of 
civil forfeiture, whose mantra is, “if you think 
there’s a crime, you should indict,” would have 
had the Government indict and convict the 70-
year-old woman in this case, so that the firearm 
could be forfeited criminally.  SDC 
 
 
Currency Seizure 
 
The Government may use evidence obtained 
after the seizure of the defendant currency to 
support a finding of forfeitability in a civil forfeiture 
case.   
 
A person’s receipt of a second suspiciously-
bundled package of currency several months 
after he was sent a similar bundle, is probative 
evidence that the first bundle was drug money. 
United States v. $59,520 in U.S. Currency, 2015 
WL 5031904 (C.D. Cal. Aug. 24, 2015). 
 
C.D. Cal. * Postal inspectors intercepted a 
package being sent from New York to California 
because of several suspicious factors.  Among 
other things, the package was sent from a zip 
code other than the one on the return address, 
the mailing label was handwritten, and the fee for 
the overnight delivery was paid in cash by an 
individual, not by a business.   
 
 When a drug dog alerted to the currency, 
the inspectors obtained a warrant to search the 
package and found $59,520 in currency in 10 zip-
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lock bags inside a cardboard box that was itself 
wrapped in plastic and a long-sleeve shirt.  The 
agents were able to smell the odor of marijuana 
on the currency without the benefit of a drug dog.  
Claimant filed a claim asserting that the money 
was from an inheritance. 
 
 The court held a bench trial and issued 
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.  It held 
that the circumstantial evidence – the quantity of 
currency, the manner of packaging, and the odor 
of marijuana – were sufficient by itself to support 
a finding of forfeitability by a preponderance of 
the evidence, and that Claimant’s uncorroborated 
and inconsistent explanation for the source of the 
currency was insufficient to overcome the weight 
of the Government’s evidence. 
 
 In addition, however, the court held that 
the Government’s case was supported by 
evidence that the same sender sent a similar 
package to the same recipient several months 
after the defendant currency was seized.  The 
second package contained used books, a bag, 
and a shoe box that contained plastic bags 
wrapped in rubber bands and $21,700 in 
currency. 
 
 Noting that under 18 U.S.C. § 983(c)(2), 
the Government may use subsequently-acquired 
evidence to support the forfeiture of property 
seized for civil forfeiture, the court held that the 
second seizure was “probative and gives 
credibility to the Government’s theory concerning 
the subject parcel,” and entered a verdict of 
forfeiture in favor of the Government.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Christen Sproule and SAUSA 
Lucas Rowe 
 
  
Notes 
 
Claim and Answer 
 

United States v. Real Property … 509 Raspberry 
Patch Dr., 2015 WL 4590788 (W.D.N.Y. July 29, 
2015).   
 
W.D.N.Y. * Claimant filed a claim to the 
defendant real property but after his death the 
executor of his estate declined to pursue the 
case and did not file an answer to the 
Government’s complaint.  Accordingly, the court 
granted the Government’s motion to dismiss the 
claim for failure to file an answer as required by 
Supp. Rule G(5)(b). 
 
Contact: AUSA Grace Carducci 
 
 
Claim and Answer 
 
United States v. $102,283.44 in U.S. Currency, 
2015 WL 4172720 (D. Nev. July 10, 2015). 
 
D. Nev. * The Government moved to strike 
Claimant’s answer to its civil forfeiture complaint 
for failure to file a verified claim, and when 
Claimant then filed a late claim, moved to strike 
the claim as out of time.  The court accepted 
Claimant’s counsel representation, however, that 
he had difficulty communicating with Claimant 
who was incarcerated, and finding that Claimant 
had expressed his intent to contest the forfeiture 
and that there was no prejudice to the 
Government, exercised its discretion to allow the 
late claim. 
 
Contact: AUSA Greg Addington 
 
 
Discovery / Rule 37 Sanctions 
 
United States v. $40,200.00 in U.S. Currency, 
___ F. Supp. 3d ___, 2015 WL 4276205 (D. Nev. 
July 14, 2015). 
D. Nev. * After making numerous efforts to prod 
Claimant into responding to its discovery 
requests, the Government moved to strike his 
answer to the civil forfeiture complaint and for a 
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default judgment as the appropriate sanction 
under Rule 37 for failure to provide discovery.  
After a detailed discussion of the factors a court 
should consider in such cases, the court granted 
the Government’s motion.  A case cannot 
proceed, the court said, if a claimant persists in 
providing the Government with “incomplete, 
evasive answers going to the very substance of 
the claimant’s position that he is entitled to the 
return of the disputed funds.” 
 
Contact: AUSA Greg Addington 
  
 
Default Judgment 
 
United States v. $24,700 in U.S. Currency, 2015 
WL 4647978 (D.N.J. Aug. 5, 2015). 
 
D.N.J. * Agents seized $24,700 wrapped in 
rubber bands from a passenger’s carry-on 
luggage at an airport.  A drug dog alerted to the 
currency, and the passenger, who had prior drug 
arrests and no legitimate source of income, gave 
false and inconsistent explanations for the 
currency and did not file a claim.  When the 
Government moved for a default judgment, 
however, the court denied the motion, holding 
that the evidence was insufficient to establish the 
forfeitability of the property.   
 
Contact: AUSA Peter Gaeta 
 
Comment: Wrong!  The default judgment cases 
fall into two categories: those that hold that it 
sufficient for the Government to show that it 
provided adequate notice to potential claimants 
in terms of Rule G(4), and those that hold that in 
addition, the Government must show that it 
satisfied the pleading requirements of Rule G(2).  
See Section VIII.I of my Civil Forfeiture Case 
Outline.  There are legions of cases holding that 
the facts alleged in this case satisfy the pleading 
requirements, including the requirement that the 
facts support a reasonable belief that the 
Government will be able to meet its burden of 

proof at trial.  See Rule G(2)(f).  Thus, this court 
should have granted the default judgment even 
under the higher standard. 
 
Of the tens of default judgment cases that I have 
read, I can recall only one or two in which a court 
seemed to believe that the it could only enter a 
default judgment if the facts set forth in the 
complaint were sufficient to establish the 
forfeitability of the property by a preponderance 
of the evidence.  Insofar as this case so holds, it 
is wrongly-decided.  SDC 
 
  
Substitute Assets / Inmate Trust Account  
 
United States v. Adams, 2015 WL 4864943 (N.D. 
Okla. July 28, 2015). 
 
N.D. Okla. * Defendant, a prisoner, had $52,435 
in her Inmate Trust Account as a result of 
receiving an inheritance.  The Government 
moved to forfeit the money to satisfy in part an 
outstanding $2.7 million forfeiture money 
judgment.  Granting the motion, the court held 
that Defendant’s agreement to the money 
judgment constituted an admission that the 
money directly traceable to her criminal offense 
was unavailable and that the requirements of 
Section 853(p) were satisfied. 
 
Contact: AUSA Catherine Depew 
 
 
Money Judgment 
 
United States v. Thomas, 2015 WL 4730718 
(E.D. La. Aug. 10, 2015). 
 
E.D. La. * Defendant, convicted of federal 
program fraud, opposed the entry of a 
preliminary order of forfeiture on the ground that 
the forfeiture statute contains no authority to 
enter a forfeiture order in the form of a personal 
money judgment.  But the court collected the 
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case law on that issue and held that the entry of 
a money judgment was appropriate. 
 
Contact: AUSA Brian Klebba 
 
 
Murder For Hire 
 
United States v. Davis, No. 3:15cr76-RJC 
(W.D.N.C. Aug. 6, 2015). 
 
W.D.N.C. * Defendant paid $4,000 to an 
undercover law enforcement officer as part of a 
murder-for-hire scheme.  Upon his conviction, 
the court ordered the forfeiture of the $4,000 as 
proceeds of the offense, holding that in a murder-
for-hire case, as in a bribery case, the proceeds 
comprise not the money that the defendant 
received, but the funds “directed towards or 
traceable to the offense.” 
 
Contact: AUSA Ben Bain-Creed 
 
 
Illegal Money Transmitting Business / Section 
1960 / Sentencing 
 
Rombakh v. United States, 2015 WL 4483961 
(W.D. Wash. July 21, 2015). 
 
W.D. Wash. * Defendant pled guilty to operating 
an unlicensed money transmitting business 
involving $150 million in international wire 
transfers in violation of Section 1960.  In the 
plea agreement, the Government agreed not to 
seek a sentencing enhancement under Section 
2S1.3(b)(1), which applies if the defendant “knew 
or believed” that the funds were criminal 
proceeds.  Defendant argued that the 
Government breached this agreement when it 
nevertheless advised the court as part of the 
sentencing process that the funds were in fact 
criminal proceeds, but the court held that the 
agreement that the knowledge enhancement did 
not apply did not preclude the Government from 
arguing that the wired funds were in fact 

criminally derived, or that Defendant acted in 
reckless disregard of that fact. 
 
Contact: AUSA Thomas Woods  
      
 
Sentencing / Entry of Forfeiture Order 
 
United States v. Romano, ___ F.3d ___, 2015 
WL 4509078 (2nd Cir. July 27, 2015). 
 
Second Circuit * Prior to sentencing Defendant 
for money laundering, the court referred the 
forfeiture issues to a magistrate judge for a report 
and recommendation.  Then, at the sentencing 
hearing, the court asked, “Is there a report and 
recommendation for forfeiture,” and when 
informed that there was, said, “I’ll adopt that,” 
and issued a forfeiture order for $34 million.  On 
appeal, the panel held that the colloquy indicated 
that the court accepted the magistrate judge’s 
report and recommendation without the required 
de novo review, and remanded the case for that 
purpose. 
 
Contact: AUSA Lara Gatz (E.D.N.Y.) 
 
 
International Money Laundering / Jury 
Instruction 
 
United States v. Carozza, ___ Fed. Appx. ___, 
2015 WL 4497363 (9th Cir. July 24, 2015). 
 
Ninth Circuit * Defendant appealed his 
conviction for international money laundering in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2)(A) on the 
ground that the jury instructions were inadequate.  
But the court held that Section 1956(a)(2)(A) – 
unlike the other provisions of the money 
laundering statute – does not require proof that 
the defendant knew the money involved in the 
offense was the proceeds of some form of 
unlawful activity, and affirmed the conviction. 
 
Contact: AUSA Laurie Gray (N.D. Cal.) 


